STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 24 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Kershaw County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

ALONZO TARELL JONES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000158

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI PURSUANT AUSTIN V. STATE

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the circuit court erred concluding petitioner's PCR hearing was reconstructed where the record as reconstructed prevents meaningful appellate review because the only witness available at the reconstruction was the former assistant attorney general and the reconstruction hearing was nearly ten years after the PCR hearing?

2. If this Court determines the record has been reconstructed to permit meaningful review, whether the limited record available demonstrates the PCR judge erred denying petitioner relief where petitioner's guilty plea was involuntary because he was unaware the conviction would trigger a federal prosecution?

STATEMENT

On February 20, 2013, a Kershaw County grand jury indicted petitioner for unlawful carrying of a pistol. App. 157-158. On April 9, 2013, petitioner waived indictment for the offense of resisting arrest and pled guilty to both unlawful carrying of a pistol and resisting arrest before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin. App. 1-12; 9, ll. 1-4; 159-160. Cornelius J. Riley represented petitioner, and deputy solicitor Brett Perry prosecuted for the state. App. 1. Judge Benjamin sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of one year imprisonment, suspended to six months of probation. App. 11, l. 25—12, l. 4; 161-162.

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 14-21. On July 16, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Petitioner was not present at the hearing. Ronald Moak represented petitioner. J. Clayton Mitchell, former assistant attorney general, represented the state. App. 29. On December 3, 2015, Judge Cooper signed an order denying PCR. No appeal was taken from this order. App. 29-35.

On March 15, 2017, petitioner filed an application for PCR alleging previous PCR counsel, Mr. Moak, failed to file an appeal from the denial of his PCR application. App. 37-38. Almost five years later, on January 24, 2022, the Honorable D. Craig Brown held a hearing on the matter. App. 76-106. Michael Lifsey represented petitioner and Michael Davidson represented the state. App. 76. Without objection from the state, Judge Brown granted petitioner a belated appeal of his 2015 PCR action on January 31, 2022. App. 107-110.

During preparation for petitioner's belated appeal, undersigned counsel learned the transcript from his July 16, 2015, evidentiary hearing was no longer available. Undersigned counsel filed a petition to reconstruct the record of petitioner's 2015 PCR hearing. App. 111-

116. By order dated August 23, 2022, this Court granted the petition and ordered the parties reconstruct the hearing. The order provided for the circuit court to determine whether the hearing could be reconstructed. If determined reconstruction were not possible, then the circuit court was directed to notify this Court. In the alternative, if the court found reconstruction were possible, then the matter would proceed upon petitioner's receipt of the transcript. App. 118-119.

On December 17, 2024, petitioner appeared via Webex before the Honorable Daniel Coble to reconstruct the record of his July 16, 2015, hearing. Undersigned counsel represented petitioner, and Russ Barlow appeared on behalf of the state. App. 126. At the conclusion of the reconstruction hearing Judge Coble took the matter under advisement. App. 144, ll. 3-5. On February 21, 2025, Judge Coble signed an order holding the PCR evidentiary hearing was adequately reconstructed. App. 148-156.

Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari pursuant to *Austin* concerning Judge Coble's finding the record was reconstructed and the denial of relief.

ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court erred concluding petitioner’s PCR hearing was reconstructed where the record as reconstructed prevents meaningful appellate review because the only witness available at the reconstruction was the former assistant attorney general and the reconstruction hearing was nearly ten years after the PCR hearing.

Petitioner’s reconstruction hearing was held in December 2024, nearly ten years after his original PCR hearing. Only one witness, former assistant attorney general Clayton Mitchell, was present to testify at the hearing. Petitioner’s former plea counsel, Cornelius Riley, who was the only witness called at the 2015 PCR hearing was deceased. App. 125, ll. 16-18. Additionally, petitioner’s former PCR counsel, Ronald Moak had been suspended from the practice of law in 2018 and was unavailable to participate in petitioner’s reconstruction hearing according to the attorney for the state. App. 124, l. 24—125, l. 24. Counsel for petitioner told the court petitioner wanted to go forward with the hearing but acknowledged that because of the length of time and the unavailability of either Mr. Riley or Mr. Moak it would be difficult to reconstruct the 2015 hearing. App. 126, l. 24—127, l. 20.

Mr. Mitchell testified that he recalled the hearing and “took pretty detailed notes.” App. 131, ll. 19-25. Mitchell told the court that he would have given a brief opening and noted petitioner was not present on the day of the hearing and the matter went forward without testimony from petitioner. App. 132, ll. 1-8. He stated that Mr. Moak called plea counsel Riley and then Mitchell read through his notes.¹ App. 132, ll. 9-12.

As to the allegation regarding the federal prosecution of petitioner, Mitchell stated Mr. Moak argued that had petitioner been aware he could be subject to federal prosecution he would

¹ Mr. Mitchell’s notes were made exhibit 1 and are included in the appendix for the Court. App. 146-147.

not have pled guilty. App. 134, l. 19—135, l. 14. Mr. Mitchell testified petitioner’s plea counsel, Mr. Riley, did not know that there was a federal prosecution and was therefore unable to inform petitioner of that prior to his guilty plea. App. 132, ll. 18-21; 135, ll. 1-8. Mitchell remembered Mr. Riley testified he did not believe “this sort of incident would draw the attention of federal authorities, and therefore, had no reason to consider it.” App. 135, ll. 9-13.

Regarding the allegation that plea counsel was ineffective for failure to investigate Mr. Mitchell claimed plea counsel’s testimony was “he did not check the gun, not check for the gun.” App. 132, ll. 22-25. Mitchell went on to say that plea counsel testified there was no dispute regarding whether a gun was present, and that petitioner had been eager to plead guilty and was happy with his sentence. App. 133, ll. 2-7; 134, ll. 15-18.

Mr. Mitchell did not recall the PCR court ruling from the bench but stated that the order denying PCR reflected that happened. App. 135, l. 19—136, l. 3.

At the conclusion of the hearing undersigned counsel argued while Mr. Mitchell may have a good memory over nine years was a very long time, and most of us could be subject to forgetting after that length of time. Additionally, in fairness to petitioner, meaningful appellate review with only the former assistant attorney general as a witness is impossible citing *State v. Ladson*² in support. App. 139, l. 19—140, l. 6.

Counsel for the state agreed but contended that because of the issues raised there was plenty for an appellate court to review. App. 140, ll. 9-18.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals concluded that a reconstructed record must allow for ““meaningful appellate review.”” Thus, a new trial is “appropriate if the appellant establishes that ‘the incomplete nature of the transcript prevents the appellate court from conducting a

² 373 S.C. 320, 644 S.E.2d 271 (2007).

meaningful appellate review.” *State v. Ladson*, 373 S.C. 320, 325, 644 S.E.2d 271, 274 (2007)(quoting *In re D.W.*, 615 S.E.2d 90, 94 (2005)).

In *Ladson*, the Court of Appeals determined the reconstructed record did not allow for meaningful review. *Id.* at 325-326, 644 S.E.2d at 274. Importantly, the court noted the reconstruction occurred “more than a year after Ladson was convicted and sentenced.” *Id.* at 326, 644 S.E.2d at 274. Repeatedly, the court remarked reconstructing the trial “would be an uphill battle” based upon the substantial delay between the original trial and the reconstruction hearing. *Id.* at 321-322, 644 S.E.2d at 271-272; *Id.* at 321 n.1, 644 S.E.2d at 271 n.1(stating “it was obviously quite difficult to reconstruct the record” in light of the passage of a year since the trial).

In light of the respective workloads, the court found “[i]t is simply unrealistic and unreasonable to think that a trial judge and counsel can – under these circumstances – reconstruct a proper record that will permit meaningful appellate review, especially in light of our issue preservation rules.” *Id.* at 326, 644 S.E.2d at 274. The court described the trial court and counsel as “groping in the dark as to what actually happened at trial.” *Id.* The reconstructed record consisted of “conclusory” information provided by the state as evidenced by the witnesses testifying in generalities and summaries. *Id.* at 322, 644 S.E.2d at 272. Additionally, the court noted discrepancies among the witnesses regarding whether a witness was qualified as an expert, whether particular individuals testified, including the defendant, whether the jury returned its verdict the same day it began deliberating, and whether objections to evidence had been made. *Id.* at 322-323, 644 S.E.2d at 22.

The record before this Court as reconstructed does not allow for meaningful appellate review of petitioner’s 2015 evidentiary hearing. Significantly, the reconstruction was held at the

end of 2024, almost ten years after the July 2015 evidentiary hearing. Importantly, the only witness who testified at petitioner's 2015 evidentiary hearing plea counsel, Cornelius Riley, was deceased and therefore unavailable to testify at the reconstruction hearing. Petitioner was not present at his 2015 hearing and could offer no recollection of the hearing. Petitioner's former PCR counsel, Mr. Moak, was unavailable for the 2024 reconstruction hearing. Although it is likely Moak would not have offered much because even at the 2022 hearing concerning belated review Moak admitted he did not recall some of what occurred at the 2015 hearing. App. 99, ll. 15-20. Former assistant attorney general, Mr. Mitchell, seemingly had a good recollection of the hearing and he provided his notes from the hearing. However, Mr. Mitchell's testimony and less than two pages of notes cannot be enough to provide meaningful appellate review for petitioner.

2. If this Court determines the record has been reconstructed to permit meaningful review, the limited record available demonstrates the PCR judge erred denying petitioner relief where petitioner's guilty plea was involuntary because petitioner was unaware the conviction would trigger a federal prosecution.

A two-prong test for determining effective assistance of counsel has been set forth by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, "[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." 466 U.S. at 688. The second prong of the *Strickland* test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To prove trial counsel's performance was deficient, an applicant must show "counsel's representation fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness.” *Williams v. State*, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).

In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea. *Dover v. State*, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991) (citing *State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). Although the trial court is not required to direct defendant's attention to each right and obtain a separate waiver, the record should indicate the defendant was fully aware of the consequences of the guilty plea. *State v. Lambert*, 266 S.C. 574, 225 S.E.2d 340 (1976). Defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both.” *State v. Ray*, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993).

When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the appellate court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. *Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and from the record of the PCR hearing. *Id.*

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has considered the requirements of a voluntary and

knowing guilty plea previously, including in the following cases.

In *State v. Hazel*, the Court held defendant's guilty plea was not knowing and therefore invalid because it was made without an understanding of the sentencing consequences. 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980). In that case neither defense counsel nor the plea court made defendant aware of the mandatory punishment for the offense they pled guilty to. *Id.*

In *Dover v. State*, the Court affirmed the lower court's grant of PCR, holding defendant's guilty plea was not voluntarily and understandingly made where defendant was not made aware of the consequences of his guilty plea.³ 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). In that case the defendant pled guilty to twenty-nine indictments including grand larceny, burglary, second degree burglary and petit larceny and was given an aggregate sentence of twenty-five years' imprisonment. *Id.* at 434, 405 S.E.2d at 392. In that case the Court found defendant's plea was not voluntarily and understandingly made where defendant did not have a full understanding of the consequences of his plea where it was not established that defendant understood the severity of the crimes or the sentences they carried. *Id.* The Court analogized *Dover* to *Hazel* where the defendant was not made aware that her charges carried a mandatory life sentence.

In *Harres v. Leeke*, the Court reversed the lower court's grant of PCR and held defendants' guilty pleas were voluntary and knowing. 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). In that case two defendants pled guilty to exhibiting obscene films and were sentenced. *Id.* at 132, 318 S.E.2d at 360. At the PCR hearing defendants testified it was their belief the plea court would sentence them to probation, and they were instead sentenced to active time. Based on the defendants' testimony during the plea hearing and their testimonies during the PCR hearing the Court found the guilty pleas were knowing and voluntary. *Id.* at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

³ The Court disagreed with the lower court's reasoning and affirmed the result on other grounds appearing in the record.

Unlike *Harres v. Leeke*, petitioner is *not* alleging he was promised a particular sentence if he pled guilty. He understood the range the state offered. However, petitioner was not aware that his guilty plea would trigger a federal investigation, and alleged counsel knew of this and failed to warn him so that petitioner could make an informed decision regarding the state's offer to plead guilty. App. 96, l. 25—97, l. 12.

In *Rollinson v. State*, the Court reversed the lower court's grant of PCR and held (1) counsel was not ineffective for failure to challenge the legality of a weapons frisk that led to discovery of drugs and (2) counsel was not ineffective in allowing defendant to plead guilty to both first and second offense drug charges. 346 S.C. 506, 507, 552 S.E.2d 290 (2001). In that case defendant pled guilty pursuant to a negotiated agreement to possession of crack cocaine possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine second offense and carrying a pistol. *Id.*

At PCR the lower court found counsel was ineffective in allowing defendant to plead to second offense possession with intent to distribute at the same time he was pleading guilty to his first drug offense. *Id.* at 510, 552 S.E.2d at 292. The Court disagreed finding he “knowingly intelligently, and voluntarily agreed to plead guilty to both as part of a plea bargain where the state dropped three other drug charges. *Id.* The Court found there was a sufficient factual basis presented for both charges reasoning “[a]ll that is required before a plea can be accepted is that the defendant understand the nature and crucial elements of the charges, the consequences of the plea, and the constitutional rights he is waiving, and that the record reflect a factual basis for the plea.” *Id.* at 511, 552 S.E.2d at 292.

In *Sellner v. State*, the Court reversed the PCR court's denial of relief, granted defendant a new trial, and held defense counsel's advice to defendant that he could be convicted of armed robbery without proof of a physical representation of a deadly weapon rendered counsel's

performance deficient. 461 S.C. 606, 607, 787 S.E.2d 525 (2016). In that case defendant was charged with armed robbery and as a result of prior convictions was subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. *Id.* at 608, 787 S.E.2d. at 526. At PCR counsel testified there was no evidence that defendant had a gun during the robbery or that he made any representation of a weapon. *Id.* at 609, 787 S.E.2d at 527. The Court found “counsel’s advice to [defendant] that he could be convicted of armed robbery without proof of a physical representation of a deadly weapon rendered counsel’s performance deficient and the PCR court erred in finding [] counsel effective. *Id.* at 612, 787 S.E.2d at 528.

Petitioner did not have information that would have been crucial to his determination whether to continue to trial or plead guilty. Counsel’s advice to plead guilty knowing petitioner would be implicated in a federal prosecution was deficient performance.

Entering a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). The United States Supreme Court has held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights they are waiving. *Id.* Specifically, a defendant must be aware of the privilege against self-incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront one’s accusers.

In addition to the requirements of *Boykin*, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. *Pittman v. State*, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). “Any defects in the information conveyed by defense counsel can be cured by information provided at the guilty plea proceeding. *Rollinson v.*

State, 346 S.C. 506, 513, 552 S.E.2d 290, 293 (2001) (citing *Moorehead v. State*, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415, (1998)). “The knowing and voluntary nature of the plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant’s counsel or both.’” *Id.* (citing *State v. Ray*, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)).

“An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003). The two-part test also “applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (quoting *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009)).