RECEIVED

Aug 04 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Kershaw County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000158

Alonzo T. Jones,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court properly found that Petitioner's first post-conviction relief hearing was reconstructed, given that only two issues were raised to the first post-conviction relief court, the witness's notes corroborate the issues presented, and the first post-conviction relief court's order covers the testimony, findings of fact, and conclusions of law that enable this Court to conduct a meaningful review of the record.**

On petition for certiorari, Petitioner argues that the circuit court erred in finding that the reconstructed record of Petitioner's first post-conviction relief hearing was sufficient for meaningful appellate review due to the passage of time and the unavailability of witnesses. Petitioner further relies on State v. Ladson, 373 S.C. 320, 644 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2007) to support his assertions. However, as the circuit court properly found, there were two issues presented to the first post-conviction relief court, which are substantially covered in the order of dismissal, the testimony of Counsel Mitchell, and his notes. Furthermore, the circuit court properly outlined the distinctions between the Ladson case and the case *sub judice*. The circuit court properly ruled that the reconstruction hearing yielded a sufficient record for meaningful appellate review.

Where a transcript has been lost or destroyed, a court may remand to have the record reconstructed. Koon v. State, 358 S.C. 359, 367, 595 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2005) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 105, 610 S.E.2d 494, 501 (2005). In China v. Parrot, 251 S.C. 329, 162 S.E.2d 276 (1968), this Court held that where a portion of the court reporter's notes was lost, the trial judge properly considered affidavits from counsel and the court reporter in reconstructing the record.

In the instant case, the circuit court properly considered testimony from Counsel Mitchell, who represented the State during Petitioner's first post-conviction relief action. At the

reconstruction hearing, Counsel Mitchell testified that his notes mainly reflected the contents of the order issued by Judge Cooper. (App'x p. 131). Counsel Mitchell testified that his notes reflect that Counsel Riley was called and testified that he was not aware that the feds were investigating Petitioner while he represented him. (App'x p. 132). Counsel Mitchell testified that his notes further reflected that there was never a dispute that Petitioner had a gun, so he did not check the gun, and Petitioner was eager to take a plea deal. (App'x pp. 132–133). Counsel Mitchell testified that his notes reflect that he crossed Counsel Riley on the charges being reduced and questioned him about dual sovereignty. (App'x p. 133). Counsel Mitchell testified that Counsel Riley indicated that typically he is contacted when state charges are upgraded to federal, but he was not contacted and did not advise Petitioner of any "theoretical" federal investigation because he did not know there was one. (App'x p. 133).

In the Order of Dismissal issued by Judge Cooper from Petitioner's first post-conviction relief hearing, Judge Cooper found the allegation of failure to investigate the gun was without merit. (App'x p. 31). Judge Cooper found Petitioner admitted to having the gun and pleaded guilty to it, and was foreclosed from now coming and asserting that he did not have a gun when he openly admitted to it during his guilty plea. (App'x p. 32). Judge Cooper further found that Petitioner "failed to present any evidence that the gun was not properly processed by law enforcement," and that his allegation rested solely on speculation. (App'x p. 32).

Turning to the issue of Petitioner not being informed of the potential federal investigation and that if he had known, he would not have pleaded guilty, Judge Cooper found the issue was collateral and not a cognizable post-conviction relief claim. (App'x pp. 32–33). Judge Cooper further found Counsel Riley's testimony credible that he was not aware of a federal investigation into Petitioner. (App'x p. 33). Judge Cooper found Counsel Riley "acted reasonably in his

representation and made a strategic decision to advise Applicant to plead guilty to the charges as he believed the plea deal to be beneficial to Applicant." (App'x p. 34).

In Ladson, where the Court of Appeals found that the reconstructed record was insufficient, the court stated it was "essentially left with a bare bones summary of the evidence (with more remaining unknown than known) from a lengthy multi-day and fact-intensive trial that resulted in a non-parolable twenty-five year prison term." 373 S.C. at 327, 644 S.E.2d at 274. However, the instant case is distinguishable from Ladson for several reasons. First, the present matter involves the reconstruction of a brief post-conviction relief hearing, whereas the Ladson case involved the attempted reconstruction of a three-day trial. Second, all key aspects of the Petitioner's post-conviction relief hearing can be discerned from the testimony presented at the reconstruction hearing, the notes of Counsel Mitchell, and the Order of Dismissal. Third, the issues raised at the first post-conviction relief hearing lacked complexity, with only one of the claims being a cognizable post-conviction relief claim. Based on the foregoing, the present case is distinguishable from Ladson, and the record of the July 16, 2015, hearing was successfully reconstructed to allow for meaningful appellate review.

A new trial is appropriate only when Petitioner establishes that "the incomplete nature of the transcript prevents the appellate court from conducting a 'meaningful appellate review.'" Ladson, 373 S.C. at 326, 644 S.E.2d at 274. The Court of Appeals stated that "we believe our supreme court would follow a rule requiring the party challenging a reconstructed record on appeal to demonstrate prejudice flowing from an inadequate record." Ladson, 373 S.C. at 326, 644 S.E.2d at 274. In this case, Petitioner cannot show the requisite prejudice, as the evidentiary hearing in 2015 was straightforward and the issues presented were not particularly complex or fact-intensive. Counsel Mitchell's notes, along with Judge Cooper's Order of Dismissal, offer ample context for

the two issues raised, ensuring a meaningful appellate review. Petitioner fails to demonstrate the necessary prejudice to warrant an entirely new evidentiary hearing, as the reconstructed record is more than adequate.

II. The first post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief when his guilty plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, and plea counsel had no duty to inform Petitioner of potential collateral consequences of his guilty plea.

Additionally, Petitioner avers that the first post-conviction relief court improperly determined that Petitioner knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily pleaded guilty. Specifically, Petitioner avers that "Petitioner did not have information that would have been crucial to his determination whether to continue to trial or plead guilty [and] Counsel's advice to plead guilty knowing [P]etitioner would be implicated in a federal prosecution was deficient performance." (PWC p. 11). However, Petitioner's contention rests on Counsel Riley knowing that Petitioner would be implicated in a federal prosecution, and the record before this Court wholly refutes this contention. Specifically, Judge Cooper's Order of Dismissal found that Counsel Riley credibly testified that "he did not know the federal authorities were investigating the case." (App'x p. 33). Therefore, the first post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner pled knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, and plea counsel had no duty to advise Petitioner of the possibility that he could be charged by the federal government, and this Court should deny certiorari.

Because a guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual, the post-conviction relief applicant's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. See Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977). Statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless an Applicant presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. See Crawford

v. United States, 519 F.2d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1975) (overruled on other grounds by United States v. Whitley, 759 F.2d 327 (4th Cir. 1985)).

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish a post-conviction relief applicant had a full understanding of the consequences of the plea and the charges against him or her. Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991); see also Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243 (1969) (Courts must make sure defendants have "a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence. When the judge discharges that function, he leaves a record adequate for any review that may be later sought, and forestalls the spin-off of collateral proceedings that seek to probe murky memories."). In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. See Harris v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 134, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984) (finding the voluntariness of a guilty plea "is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.").

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that trial counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial instead. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001); Richardson v. State, 310 S.C. 360, 363, 362 426 S.E.2d 795, 797 (1993). Given Applicant's burden of proof and the analysis to be applied to this claim, Applicant's claim of involuntary plea is, in essence, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and it will be treated as such.

"The imposition of a sentence may have a number of collateral consequences, and a plea of guilty is not rendered involuntary in a constitutional sense if the defendant is not informed of the collateral consequences." Williams v. State, 378 S.C. 511, 514, 662 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting Brown v. State, 306 S.C. 381, 382-83, 412 S.E.2d 399, 400 (1991)). "Thus, a defendant need not be advised of all collateral consequences of his or her plea in order for the plea to withstand constitutional scrutiny." Id., 378 S.C. at 511-12, 662 S.E.2d at 617.

"[A] consequence that the defendant must be informed of is one which impacts the sentence imposed on the defendant, and as such, is a direct consequence." Williams, 378 S.C. at 515, 662 S.E.2d at 617; see State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 598, 211 S.E.2d 889, 891 (1975) (stating the defendant must be apprised of the direct consequences, which are the direct and immediate results, of his guilty plea). "The distinction between 'direct' and 'collateral' consequences of a plea, while sometimes shaded in the relevant decisions, turns on whether the result represents a definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." Williams, 378 S.C. at 515, 662 S.E.2d at 617 (quoting Cuthrell v. Dir., Patuxent Inst., 475 F.2d 1364, 1365-66 (4th Cir. 1973)).

Here, Petitioner avers that his guilty plea was invalid because Counsel Riley did not inform him that his guilty plea in state court could subject him to federal prosecution. Further, Petitioner avers, even though the record directly refutes this claim, that Counsel Riley knew Petitioner was being investigated by the federal authorities and did not inform him that he could be prosecuted federally. As provided *supra*, Judge Cooper addressed this very issue, where he found Counsel Riley's testimony credible that he did not know Petitioner was being investigated by the federal authorities. See, e.g., State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009) ("In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gatekeeping role of the trial court in making a

credibility assessment."); Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 766 (1990) (Blackmun, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) ("The trial judge who hears the witnesses live, observes their demeanor and in general smells the smoke of the battle is by his very position far better equipped to make findings of fact which will have the reliability that we need and desire.").

Nevertheless, the Fourth Circuit has long held that "[w]hether a guilty plea in state court might be used in a subsequent federal prosecution is plainly a collateral consequence." United States v. Ayala, 601 F.3d 256, 270 (4th Cir. 2010). The Ayala court further held that "[i]n our system of dual sovereigns, state and federal courts run on separate tracks; thus, a guilty plea in one does not automatically lead to consequences in the other." Id. Importantly, the Ayala court explained, quoting United States v. Long, 852 F.2d 975, 979 (7th Cir. 1988), that "[t]he state and federal systems are separate and distinct, and the defendant need only be informed of the direct consequences he may face within the particular system." Id.; accord United States v. Williams, 104 F.3d 213, 216 (8th Cir. 1997); United States v. Maestas, 941 F.2d 273, 279 (5th Cir. 1991); United States v. Bouthot, 878 F.2d 1506, 1511 (1st Cir. 1989).

Accordingly, the first post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner's subsequent federal prosecution was a collateral consequence, and Counsel Riley cannot be deficient for failing to advise Petitioner of something he did not know was occurring or was going to occur. Therefore, this Court should uphold the post-conviction relief court's findings and deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION